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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	JASON A. CATES, 

                                Employee, 

                                     Applicant/Respondent,

                                                   v. 

REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC.,

                                      Employer,

                                                   and 

COMMERCE & INDUSTRY INS. CO.,

C/O WILTON ADJUSTMENT SERVICE

                                     Insurer/Adjuster,

                                         Defendants/Peitioner.
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)
	        FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200207730
        AWCB Decision No.  05-0307

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on November 21, 2005


We heard the employee’s claim for medical benefits and the employer’s petition for a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”), in Anchorage, Alaska on October 20, 2005.  Attorney Colby Smith represented the employer and insurer/adjuster (employer).  Attorney Steven Constantino represented the employee. The record remained open to receive a deposition until October 25, 2005.  We closed the record that same day.
ISSUES

1. Shall the Board grant, under AS 23.30.095(k), the employer’s request for an SIME?

2. Shall the Board find, under AS 23.30.095(a) and Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727 (Alaska 1999), that IDET/Nucleoplasty is reasonable and necessary medical care for the employee’s work related condition?

3. Shall the Board grant, under AS 23.30.145(b) the employee’s request for reasonable, actual attorney’s fees and legal costs?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The issues before the Board are the employer’s request for an SIME under AS 23.30.095(k) and the employee’s request for medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a) and the terms of his compromise and release agreement approved by the Board on October 15, 2003.  Specifically the employee seeks an order finding an Intradiscal Electrothermal Annuloplasty or “IDET” and nucleoplasty are compensable medical procedures.  

Nucleoplasty is a precutaneous procedure where a needle is placed into the disk.
  A device is threaded through the needle.  The device operates at about 44 or 45 decrees centigrade and works to vaporize parts of the nucleus.  As the volume of the disk is decreased, the protrusion is decompressed and pressure on the nerve relieved   For an IDET, the physician uses an X-ray machine (fluoroscope) to guide a hollow needle and insert it into the painful disc. A thin heating wire (electrothermal catheter) is passed through the needle into the disc, and maneuvered into place around the outer edge of the central nucleus. The wire is heated slowly to a temperature of about 194 degrees Fahrenheit (90 degrees Celsius) for about 15 minutes. The heat is applied to contract and shrink the fibers that make up the disc wall, closing any tears.   Additionally because the heat can potentially cauterize tiny nerve endings in the disc, this procedure can make them less sensitive to pain. 

 The following is a brief summation of the relevant facts of the case, highlighting only the portions relevant to the controversies presently before the Board.

The employer employed the employee as a maintenance person.  He injured his low back on March 13, 2002.
  On June 24, 2003, the Board issued its decision and order dismissing the employer’s petition to compel discovery in this matter, AWCB Decision No. 03-0145.  The parties subsequently entered into a compromise and release (“agreement”) that was approved on October 15, 2003.  The Board incorporates this agreement into this decision and order by reference.   Per the terms of the agreement, in exchange for $45,000.00, the employee waived all benefits except future, non-chiropractic, reasonable and necessary medical benefits.   The agreement contains an agreed upon statement of facts.  These facts provide:

1.  INTRODUCTION

The employee, Jason Cates, at the age of 31, sustained an injury while employed by Real Estate services. [sic]  Mr. Cates reported that he slipped on ice injuring his low back.  Mr. Cates was employed at that time as a maintenance worker and had worked for Real Estate Services since March 24, 2000.  This Compromise and Release is intended to resolve all claims for any injuries arising from Mr. Cates’ employment with Real Estate Service which may have been sustained through the date of the approval of this settlement agreement.

2.  PAYMENT OF DISABILITY BENEFITS

The employee's compensation was based on his most favorable 13 consecutive calendar weeks within the 52 calendar weeks immediately before the injury.  This resulted in a gross weekly earnings rate of $725.01 and a  weekly compensation rate of $493.52, based on the fact he was married with three dependents at the time of injury.  Temporary total disability benefits were paid from March 14, 2002 through May 2, 2002 totaling $3,525.14.  Permanent partial impairment benefits were paid from May 3, 2002 through September 4, 2002 totaling $8,850.00.  Stipend .041(k) benefits commenced on September 5, 2002 and continue to be paid at the present time. 

3.  MEDICALS

Copies of all medical records in the possession of the employer and carrier/adjuster have been served on all parties and the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board pursuant to the terms of 8 AAC 45.052 as attachments to Medical Summaries.  These medical records are hereby incorporated by reference.  Any medical records received subsequent to the most recent Medical Summary in this case will be attached to this Compromise and Release.

Dr. Shannon diagnosed the employee with left sided mild to moderate acute radiculopathy with multilevel disc protrusions in the lumbar and thoracic spine. Initially, Dr. Skala administered chiropractic care.  He opined that Cates’ could return to work on March 18, 2002. 

On March 18, 2002, Dr. Morgan initiated chiropractic care and recommended the employee not return to work.  This treatment continued three times a week.

On April 11, 2002, Dr. Strawbridge, per the request of Mr. Morgan, evaluated the employee’s possible neurogenic bladder.  The employee reported various symptoms to Dr. Strawbridge including headaches, dizzy spells, numbness, tingling, abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, being sluggish and tired, joint pain, neck pain, back pain, and sinus problems.  Dr. Strawbridge diagnosed the employee with left flank pain in minimal micro hematuria, urinary frequency, and multi-disc protrusions with the large essentially in the left at levels L5-S1.  He recommended Cates’ obtain an IVP to evaluated his flank pain, hematuria, and EMG studies.  On April 15, 2002, Dr. McCormick opined that the employee’s IVP studies of the abdomen revealed no abnormality.  

On April 18, 2002, Dr. Strawbridge reevaluated the employee.  He opined that the CMG/EMG studies revealed a bladder capacity of approximately 279cc, with the appropriate EMG activity.  Dr. Strawbridge also opined that the employee’s micro hematuria revealed normal results.  Dr. Strawbridge concluded that the employee did not have a neurogenic bladder.

On the same day, Dr. Morgan continued chiropractic treatment.  He diagnosed the employee with acute mild, moderate lumbar sprain/strain, associated with bi-lateral sciatic neuralgia, and splinting muscle spasms.  Dr. Morgan recommended continued chiropractic care and physical therapy.  

On May 3, 2002, Mr. John Shannon, another chiropractor, diagnosed the employee with a left sided mild to moderate acute radiculopathy with the suggestions of an L5 left acute radiculopathy.  Mr. Shannon noted that the employee had has a prior cervical spine injury eight to ten years ago when he was involved in a motor vehicle accident. He recommended that if the employee continued to improve the treatment program would be weaned accordingly with the appropriate exercises and rehabilitation.  He opined that if the employee had not improved in four or five weeks then he would be a candidate for an epidural at L5-S1 and most likely L4-L5 on the left hand side.  He opined that the employee’s bowel and bladder dysfunction were all together a different issue.  He opined it was probable that the L5-S1 nerve root damage was creating difficulty with the employee’s bowel and bladder.  He also opined that the employee’s high use of over-the-counter medications may be effecting his bowel movements.  

On May 6, 2002, Dr. Morgan continued his chiropractic care with the employee.  Dr. Morgan’s treatment of the employee continued at a rate of three times a week.  On June 17, 2002, Dr. Morgan opined that the employee would not be able to return to his regular work activities.  He recommended retraining and continued chiropractic care with the employee three times a week.

On August 7, 2002, Dr. Morgan noted that the employee’s discomfort migrated to his upper back and shoulder.  On July 24, 2002, Dr. Morgan completed a rehabilitation intake form opining that the employee could not return to any work he had performed in the last ten years.

On February 24, 2003, Dr. Tomera evaluated the employee’s erectile dysfunction.  He prescribed Viagra and recommended the employee be evaluated by Dr. Ule and Dr. Voke concerning his back discomfort.  

On March 12, 2003, Dr. Voke, an orthopedic, evaluated the employee’s lumbar spine discomfort.  Dr. Voke opined that the March 20, 2002 MRI of the lumbar spine demonstrated multiple levels of degenerative changes in the thoracic and lumbar areas with central protrusions at level L5-S1.  He opined that the employee should continue his therapy two times a week for four to five weeks and continue exercise at the gym two times a week.  At the time of the evaluation Dr. Voke did not rule out possible lumbar surgery.

On April 10, 2003, United Physical Therapy opined the employee’s progress had plateaued.  Apparently, the employee was able to demonstrate full lumbar ROM.  The physical therapist recommended a gym program.  

On April 15, 2003, Dr. Voke noted that the employee was attending his career academy rehabilitation program to learn to be a medical assistant.  He recommended an MRI.

On the same day, Dr. Moore, an emergency room physician at Providence Hospital, evaluated the employee for anxiety.  The employee expressed that he had been having to deal with school, attorneys, recent taxes, and as a result was under a great deal of stress.  The employee self reported anxiety attacks with symptoms that included tingling lips.  He was diagnosed with anxiety with insomnia.  Dr. Moore prescribed Restoril and recommended return to family practice if further complications arise.

On April 16, 2003, Dr. McCormick evaluated the employee’s low back MRI.  He opined that the sagittal T-2 weighted images demonstrated desiccation of disc material with the three lowest lumbar invertible disc spaces.  He noted a focal hyper-intensity in the posterior annulus at levels 5-1.  No mass effect was observed at either L5 nerve root or 5-1.  Dr. McCormick noted minimal bulges at levels 2-3, 3-4, and 4-5.  Dr. McCormick concluded that there is evidence of an annular tear posteriorly at the 5-1 level, schmorl’s nodes at T-10 and T-11, evidence of desiccation of disc material at the three lowest lumbar invertible disc spaces, early bulges at all levels from L2 through S1 with no mass effect on adjacent neuro elements, no significant central or foramina spinal stenosis, moderate bilateral 4-5 and S-1 facet arthropathy.

On April 18, 2003, Dr. Voke reevaluated the employee.  They discussed the employee’s recent MRI.  The doctor stated that the employee had an annular tear at L5-S1 plus degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine.  There was no significant herniation or foraminal stenosis.  Dr. Voke continued physical therapy and referred the employee to Dr. James for follow-up.

On May 5, 2003, Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer evaluated the employee.  The doctors’ diagnosis were: multilevel degenerative discopathy throughout the lumbar spine, most severe at L5-S1, which preexisted the work event of 3/13/02 and a twisting injury on 3/13/02, which provided a substantial cause of a right lumbar strain.  These physicians opined that Cates was medically stationary, without need for further treatment.  The doctors opined that the employee was medically stable as of May 3, 2002 and the employee had no permanent impairment as a result of the March 13, 2002 injury.  The doctors opined that there was no indication that there was any objective basis to the employee’s dysfunction regarding his bowel and bladder in relationship to any work injury.  They also opined that the employee was in need of no further chiropractic treatment or physical therapy as a result of his March 13, 2002 work injury.  Further, they opined that the employee’s right lumbar muscle strain attributable to the March 13, 2002 injury had no physiological connection to the nerve which pertain to sexual function.    

On June 9, 2003, J. Michael James, M.D. performed a provocative discogram on the right at L2-L3, L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1.  On the same date, a post discogram CT scan of the lumbar spine was obtain.  The radiologist’s impression was:  1) there was an annular tear slightly to the left of midline at the L5-S1 level.  That was associated with a small protrusion that caused slight mass effect upon the ventral aspect of the thecal sac but not upon existing nerve roots; and 2) there were disc degenerative changes at more proximal levels, but those did not appear as significant as at the L5-S1 level.  

The employee currently continues to treat with Loren Morgan, D.C.    

On July 10, 2003, Dr. Fuller submitted a follow-up IME report.  He opined that neucieoplasty procedure and IDET (Intradiscal Electrothermal Annuloplasty) procedure were not reasonable or necessary.  He further opined Restoril and Viagra prescriptions were not required as a result of Cates’ March 13, 2002 injury.

4.  PAYMENT OF MEDICAL BENEFITS

The employer and carrier/adjuster have paid to, or on behalf of, the employee $63,708.64 in medical benefits.

5.  HISTORY OF THE EMPLOYEE’S COMPENSATION CLAIM

Subsequent to Mr. Cates’ 3/13/02 injury, payment of disability and medical benefits were made as outlined above.  In 2003, a dispute arose regarding the employee’s entitlement to temporary total disability and permanent partial impairment benefits.  Additionally, a dispute arose regarding the relationship of the employee’s treatment consisting of chiropractic treatment, physical therapy and erectal dysfunction in relationship to his on-the-job injury.  The parties subsequently arrived at this settlement agreement.

6.  REHABILITATION/REEMPLOYMENT
The employee was found eligible for rehabilitation benefits and a rehabilitation plan to retrain the employee as a medical assistant was approved on September 10, 2002.   The plan was suspended for medical reasons and the employee is now tentatively scheduled to begin a program at the Career Academy on 8/21/03.  

7.  DISPUTE

There are bona fide disputes between the parties.  It is Mr. Cates’ position that he is entitled to reemployment benefits and that the RBA’s earlier determination of his eligibility and approval of his reemployment plan should not be modified.  Dr. Voke has determined he is not currently a surgical candidate and referred him to Dr. J. Michael James, a physiatrist, for follow-up care.  The employee maintains that he derives temporary symptom relief from chiropractic treatment and although palliative, he believes he is entitled to continued chiropractic care for his work injury.

On the other hand, the employer and carrier/adjuster rely on the opinions of Drs. Fuller and Reimer’s that the employee did not have a permanent impairment as a result of his work injury.  Accordingly, it is the employer’s position that the employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits and the RBA’s earlier eligibility and plan approval determinations should be modified.  Further, the employer relies on Drs. Fuller and Reimer’s opinions that additional chiropractic care after May 3, 2003 is neither reasonable nor necessary for the employee’s March 13, 2002 injury.

The parties agree that the purpose and effect of this Compromise and Release is to resolve the aforesaid disputes and all disputes which have, or may arise in the future, relating to the employee’s compensation rate, entitlement to additional past and future disability compensation, whether TTD, TPD, or PTD, entitlement to reemployment (including .041(k)), or permanent partial impairment benefits.  The parties contend this Compromise and Release is in the best interest of the employee, as it provides him certainty of benefit receipt that will enable him to secure vocational retraining without litigating his entitlement to disputed reemployment training, and thereby avoids the risks and delays inherent in litigation.  The employee also recognizes he could receive substantially less compensation in the event the dispute was submitted to the Workers’ Compensation Board.  The employer and carrier/adjuster recognize that the employee’s claim for compensation could result in an award in excess of the amount of settlement.  Therefore, with theses factors in mind, the parties desire to avoid further litigation and expense related to the disputed claims and proceed with this settlement agreement.

The parties agree the disputes being resolved by this agreement may not encompass all disputes that could arise as a result of the on-the-job injury.  In particular, Dr. James has discussed with the employee that he may be a candidate for “nucleoplasty” or IDET (Intradiscal Electrothermal Annulplasty).  On July 10, 2003, Dr. Fuller opined that these procedures are neither reasonable nor necessary for Mr. Cates’ condition nor within the realm of medically acceptable treatment.  If Dr. James determines the employee is a candidate for either of these procedures, the parties anticipate an SIME will be required and it may be necessary to resolve a future dispute regarding the scope of medical benefits to which Mr. Cates is entitled under the Act.

8.  RELEASE OF CLAIM

It is agreed the employer and carrier/adjuster will be responsible under the terms of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act for reasonable and necessary medical benefits, which although incurred in the future, are attributable to the condition described herein.  It is also agreed that the right of the employer and carrier/adjuster to contest liability for future medical benefits is not waived under the terms of this settlement agreement. 

Additionally, it is agreed that the employee will retain the right to request an SIME under AS 23.30.095(k) and to recover penalties, interest, attorney’s fees and legal costs in the event of a future dispute regarding the entitlement to a medical benefit.  

Additionally, the agreement provided employee’s counsel received $13,000.00 in attorney’s fees.  No legal costs were identified in the agreement.    In November 2003, the employee filed a claim for future non-chiropractic medical benefits, interest, and attorney’s fees and costs.  

The Board’s file contains an unsigned chart note from a January 22, 2005 doctor visit.  The chart note deflects that the employee had a “flare up” and that the pain was so bad that it caused nausea and pain into his hips.  The examiner noted the employee moving gingerly through out the waiting and exam room.

After a year’s absence, the employee returned to Dr. James on March 8, 2005.  He was seen by Shawna H. Wilson, ANP-C, FNP who works with Dr. James.  The reported that since his last visit he has continued to have aching as well as stabbing low back pain with referral to the hips bilaterally and the posterolateral aspect of the left leg.  ANP Wilson ordered a repeat discogram.

On March 9, 2005 the employee underwent a right-sided L2-3, L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1 discogram.  Dr. James reported the discogram was positive at L4-5, partially positive at l5-S1 and negative for pain at L3-4 and L2-3.
  Radiologist John McCormick, M.D., reviewed a post-discogram lumbar MRI.  Dr. McCormick noted a left annular tear at L2-3 and L4-5.
  He also noted an annular tear protruding slightly to the left of midline at L5-S1.  “This results in mass effect on the ventral left lateral aspect of the thecal sac but not on the exiting L5 nerve.”  He also found evidence of a tear at L3-4 but could not identify the exact site of the tear.

On March 16, 2005, ANP Wilson reviewed the results of the March 9, 2005 discogram with the employee.
  She discussed the possibility of an intradiscal procedure and scheduled the employee to follow up with Dr. James the first part of May to discuss further treatment.
  The employee returned to Dr. James on May 4, 2005. He discussed the risks, complications and side effects of the proposed procedures (IDET at L4-L5 and L5-S1 nucleoplasty).
 The employee elected to proceed and the procedures were scheduled.

One June 15, 2005, the employer controverted all medical costs after October 15, 2003, physical therapy, sexual dysfunction treatment, and IDET procedure.  The employer relied upon Drs. Fuller and Reimer’s May 5, 2003 report that medical care sought after May 3, 2002 was not attributable to the March 13, 2002 work injury. The employer also relied upon Dr. Fuller’s November 26, 2003 deposition testimony that the IDET and Nucleoplasty procedures were neither reasonable nor necessary medical treatments as a result of the employee’s March 13, 2002 work injury.    

The employee also provided several clinical trials to determine the efficacy of the IDET procedure.
  The clinical trials all reported that 40% – 80% of the trial participants reported improvement.

The employee testified in person at the October 20, 2005 hearing and by deposition.
  His testimony at hearing was consistent with his deposition testimony. He testified that from October 15, 2003 to March 2005, he did receive a few chiropractic treatments that he paid for himself.  He did not complete his reemployment plan.  Rather, he went to work for a different employer in July of 2004.  He also had a boat motor business with his wife.
  He testified that his father and brother-in-law would help him move the motors and that he gave up the business in the fall of 2004 because he had to depend upon others to do his job.  The employee testified that since 2003 his physical limitations have increased but that there are still things he can’t do.  He is seeking the IDET and nucleoplasty because he is tired of being in constant pain and physically restricted.
  “If I can get some relief from it, I think it would be worth it.”

The employee testified that in his present job he works 2 weeks on and 2 weeks off.
  He works in receiving in a warehouse on the slope.  His job entails checking part numbers, serial numbers, and marking the product for the end user.
  The parts vary from small plumbing parts to turbines.
  He explained that he does very little lifting and what he does lift is light. He also is permitted to move around.   He testified that his pain is constant regardless of whether he his standing or working at the computer, regardless of whether he is working or on his 2 weeks off.
  He described his “everyday” pain as a dull ache in the middle of his back, around his pants line.
  Occasionally he will get a tingling in his left leg.
  The ache and tingling were present before he started working in his present position.  He explained that his back was getting better and then around the same time as he started his new position it leveled out with intermittent  “flare-ups.”
  He described a “flare-up” as a locking up sensation where he can hardly move.
 When asked why did not seek treatment with Dr. James for his other flare-ups, he responded that they were not as bad as the January 2005 flare up.  He classifies his every day pain as a 4 on a scale of 1 to 10.

The employee testified regarding his January 2005 flare-up.  He had taken his son ice fishing with a friend.  He was sitting, stooped over in the ice shanty when he felt the back pain coming on.
  He and his son then left.  The next day, the employee testified he could hardly move.   He testified that he treated with a doctor on January 25, 2005 who told him to rest and prescribed some medication.  After his back calmed down, he made an appointment with Dr. James. The employee also described suffering from constipation, frequent urination, sexual problems and pain that will radiate from his back into both hips.
  

The employee explained that he returned to Dr. James because it was obvious that he wasn’t better.
  He recalled Dr. James discussing the IDET procedure with him in 2003 or 2004.  The employee also testified that his back condition and symptoms plateaued in late 2003 or early 2004 with periods of flare-ups.   He testified that he had been in a car accident in the early 1990’s and that in the late 1990’s he did strain his back but that it had resolved rather quickly.
    

The employee testified regarding his EME with Dr. Fuller and Reimer.  He disputes Dr. Fuller’s observations.  The employee also testified that the EME did cause pain and that he was never informed by the EME physicians to stop if the examination caused pain.  The employee observed that Dr. Fuller seemed to be hostile toward the employee’s chiropractor and used a Ford auto key for some of the sensory testing.

Mary Cates, the employee’s wife testified at hearing.  She testified regarding their boat motor business and how her husband’s involvement in the business stopped.

Dr. Fuller testified via deposition and at hearing.  He is an orthopedic surgeon whose income is derived primarily (over 95 percent) from providing expert medical opinions for employers and insurance companies.
  He is on the Board's SIME list.  He is also an owner of Independent Medical Opinions ("IMO").  IMO contracts with physicians of different specialties to provide expert medical opinions.  Fees charged by IMO are split 50-50 with the examining physician.
  

Dr. Fuller testified that on May 5, 2003 he performed an EME of the employee.  The evaluation was conducted with neurologist Gerald Reimer, M.D.  Dr. Fuller was the dictating physician and author of the EME report.  He explained that it is his practice not to review the employee’s medical records because “if I review a chart ahead of time, then I’ll automatically go down the mental pathways of my predecessors.”
 His evaluations consist of four components: the verbal history, the file review, the imaging studies and the examination.
  He typically spends about an hour with the examinee.  Most of the time is spent gathering the employee’s history and about 10 minutes on the actual physical evaluation.   Dr. Fuller and Dr. Reimer reviewed prior x-rays and a March 20, 2002 MRI and an April 16, 2003 MRI.  

Dr. Fuller explained the basis for the EME panel’s conclusion that the employee’s March 13, 2002 injury caused a right lumbar muscle strain versus a herniated disk.  He testified that he and Dr. Reimer found it significant that Dr. Skala reported the employee presented with pain in the right leg, not his left.
  He testified that the pain pattern reported by the employee at the time of the EME was not consistent with either an S1 or L5 pain pattern.  Dr. Fuller also identified differences between Dr. James’ findings and the May 5, 2003 EME.  Additionally, he testified that the MRI’s show that the bulge had actually shrunk as time passed.  

He testified that his diagnosis had not changed regarding the etiology of the employee’s disk problems – that the employee has multiple levels of degenerative disk disease and bulging disks due to a generic predisposition.  Dr. Fuller opined that there was no traumatic disc injury and questions whether there was even an aggravation.  Rather, the employee suffered a pulled muscle as a result of the work injury.  He opined that any spinal or disk treatments were not attributable to work but genetics.  He testified that the employee was “just not genetically gifted.”

Regarding the proposed IDET and nucleoplasty procedures, Dr. Fuller testified that they are not reasonable and necessary medical treatment for any back condition.
  He explained that he was not convinced that these procedures are effective or have any lasting benefit.
  He testified that a physiatrist or anesthesiologist, not an orthopedic surgeon, typically performs these procedures.  He agreed that everyone has a different opinion regarding medical treatments and his was that there was no objective evidence or studies that showed these procedures were anymore effective than a placebo.  Finally, Dr. Fuller testified that he is conservative in his recommendations regarding treatment.        

Physiatrist Michael James, M.D. testified via an August 5, 2005 deposition.  Dr. James has been practicing medicine for over 32 years.  His practice limited to the treatment, diagnosis, and management of acute and chronic spine problems.
  In the past he has served on the Board’s SIME list.    Dr. James first saw the employee on May 14, 2003 on referral from orthopedic surgeon Edward Voke, M.D.
  He testified that after evaluating the employee, his impression was the employee had discogenic back pain with mild left S1 rooted irritation without overt weakness, reflex deficits or other indicia of a significant change along a specific nerve root.
   

Dr. James explained the diagnostic tools he utilized with the employee and the basis for his recommendation that the employee was a good candidate for an IDET at L4-5 and nucleoplasty at L5-

S1.
  Specifically, Dr. James explained that the employee symptoms of radicular pain, disk protrusion at L5-S1, and radial tear of the annulus all indicate the employee would benefit from nucleoplasty at L5-S1.  He explained that he recommended an IDET at L4-5 because the employee has isolated pain on the diskogram but no leg pain.  Dr. James also considered the morphology of the disk and that the employee had chronic persistent symptoms which hadn’t changed a great deal over time.  He discussed when an IDET procedure would be contraindicated.  Dr. James testified that he has performed IDET’s for years and that his result indicated that about 60% of his patients who receive and IDET notice a 50% or greater decrease in back pain.
  

Symptoms varied from 2003 to 2005.  In 2003, the employee did not complain of hip pain or stabbing pains.
 Dr. James explained that these new symptoms were reflective of the degenerative process and that once you have an injury to the disk, there is either stability or an accelerated degenerative process.  

When questioned regarding whether the employee’s current position with another employer was a substantial factor in the employee’s need for medical treatment, Dr. James responded “No. I don’t think there’s been any change in his basic symptoms.  I think it belongs to Real Estate…”
 

On August 10, 2005 the employer filed a Petition for an SIME under AS 23.30.095(k).  The employer identified the dispute as whether IDET and nucleoplasty procedures are reasonable and necessary medical treatment for the employee.  The employee responded that the SIME petition was untimely under 8 AAC 45.092(g)(2) and therefore, the employer’s right to request an SIME is waived.  In the alternative, should the Board order an SIME, the employee requests the Board select a physician who is not “anti-IDET.”

Argument of the Employee

The employee argues that IDET is, as a matter of law, an accepted medical procedure for the treatment of certain disk conditions.  The employee cites to Leask v. Sears Roebuck & Co.
 and Kruse v. Municipality of Anchorage
 for the proposition that IDET and nucleoplasty are efficacious and are Board accepted medical procedures.  The employee argues that he is entitled to the benefits sought.  Finally the employee argues that the employer’s Petition for an SIME should be denied.  He asserts that he is entitled to a prompt adjudication of his claim and that an SIME will deprive him of this right.
Argument of the Employer

The employer argues that if the Board finds the employee has attached the presumption of compensability, then any need for medical treatment is due to his current employment on the Slope.  The employer argues that it has rebutted the presumption with the opinions of Drs. Fuller and Reimer.  The employer also argues that the employee has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the medical treatment sought is a result of his 2002 work injury.   Additionally, the employer argues that the employee’s requested medical treatment does not fall within the first two years of his injury, thus, the employee’s reliance on Lekse and Kruse are misplaced.  Rather, the Board should look to Pendergrass v. Fairbanks Memorial Hospital,
 where the Board agreed with the employer that the IDET procedure was not appropriate because the employee’s problems were not physical and denied the employee’s request for an IDET.   Finally the employer argues that both Dr James and Dr. Fuller agree that the employee’s problems are due to degeneration.  

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. Employer’s Petition for an SIME.
AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

AS 23.30.110(g) provides, in part:

An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician, which the board may require. . . .   

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:

The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled 
to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

We have long considered subsections AS 23.30.095(k) and AS 23.30.110(g) to be procedural in nature, not substantive, for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage
 and Harvey v. Cook Inlet Pipe Line Co. 
   Considering the broad procedural discretion granted to us in AS 23.30.135(a) and AS 23.30.155(h), we conclude we have wide discretion under subsection 110(g) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order an SIME to assist us in investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims.  We find the physicians’ opinions in the record, as well as the recommended courses of treatment, conflict.   To determine the need for an SIME, we apply the following paradigm:

      1. Is there a medical dispute between the employee's attending physician(s) and the EIME physician(s); 

      2. Is the dispute significant; and 

3.  Would an SIME physician's opinion assist the Board in resolving the dispute?
 

We find that there is a medical dispute between Drs. Fuller and James.  We find this dispute goes to the heart of the matter before us – compensability and appropriate medical treatment.   In this case, we find that an SIME would not assist us as we fulfill our obligation to best ascertain the rights of the parties.
  The medical record is not extensive or extremely complicated and an SIME would not significantly assist us in our determination on the record.  Further, we find that an SIME at this point would unnecessarily delay further medical treatment.  Therefore, we exercise our discretion and decline to order an SIME as requested by the employer.

II. Is the employee’s disability or need for medical treatment work-related? 

The issue presented to the Board is whether or not the employee’s requested back surgery is reasonable and necessary medical care, i.e. compensable under the workers’ compensation act, AS 23.30. et seq.  Under the facts and arguments presented, we find before we address whether the employee’s desired plan of treatment is reasonable and necessary, we must address whether the employee’s present need for medical treatment for his back condition is work related.  

“In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.”
    The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.
  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.
 The presumption can also attach to a work-related aggravation/acceleration without a specifically identifiable injury event.
   

Application of the presumption is a three-step process.
  The employee must first establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed condition has attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.
  The claimed condition is compensable if the work is a substantial factor in bringing it about.
  Work is a substantial factor if reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it. In DeYonge v. Nana Marriott,
 the Court found that an employee who suffered increased symptoms attributable to a pre-existing condition triggered the physical requirements of her job is entitled to workers’ compensation benefits.  It declined to “differentiate between the aggravation of symptoms and the aggravation of an underlying condition in the context of a claim for occupational disability benefits.”
  The Court noted that a “increased pain or other symptoms can be as disabling as deterioration of the underlying disease itself.”
  It is not necessary that there be an actual worsening of the underlying condition.
   

Once the presumption attaches, the employer must then rebut it by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.
  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption:  (1) produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.
  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.
    However, expert medical testimony is not substantial evidence sufficient to rebut the presumption if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.
  Evidence used by the employer to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.
  

If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor, which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [trier's of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  

Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows: we first consider whether the presumption attaches, and we find it does.  We find the employee has attached the presumption that he needs additional medical care attributable to his 2002 work injury with his testimony and the opinion of Dr. James, his treating physician.  

Having found the employee attached the presumption of compensability; we next determine whether the presumption is rebutted by substantial evidence. We examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.  We do not weigh the evidence or the credibility of a witness.   To rebut the presumption, the employer must produce substantial evidence that either (1) non-work-related events alone caused the employee's worsened condition, or (2) there was no possibility that employee's work caused the aggravation. 
 
  When examined in isolation, we find the employer has rebutted the presumption with the testimony of Dr. Fuller and the EME report.  

At the third step in our analysis, it is the employee’s burden to prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence; he must induce a belief in our minds that the asserted facts are probably true.
  On the record before us we find the employee has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his present back complaints are work related.  At this stage we weigh the evidence in the record.  We find the employee credible.  We find Dr. James to be credible.  We find Dr. Fuller to be credible.  

Having reviewed the record presented, we find the employee’s testimony consistent, that his back condition plateaued after he signed his compromise and release agreement.  We find his complaints consistent.  We give more weight to Dr. James’ opinion as his treating physician.  We find the diagnostic testing conducted by Dr. James consistent with our decision that the employee’s condition is work related.  Additionally, we are unconvinced by the employer’s argument that Dr. James agrees with Dr. Fuller that the employee’s current complaints are due to degenerative disk disease.  We find there is no agreement. On page 39 of his deposition, Dr. James noted that the employee had degeneration but that he does not believe that it is natural, he opined at page 40 of his deposition that the employee’s work injury accelerated the degenerative process. We find under DeYonge, that the employee’s  acceleration is compensable.     Additionally, we find the employee’s actions reasonable.  We find it reasonable that the employee would attempt to live with his condition.  We find it reasonable that a point would come where he would say “enough!”  We have been instructed that an employee is entitled to benefits whenever the work-related aggravation is a substantial factor in the employee’s impairment regardless of whether or not a non-work related event could have independently caused that impairment.
  We conclude that the employee’s present need for medical treatment for his back condition is compensable. 
III.  
Are IDET and Nucleoplasty Reasonable and Necessary Medical Care for the Employee?
AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

Having concluded the employee’s present need for medical treatment for his back is work related, we will now address whether surgery is reasonable and necessary.   For the employer to prevail in most cases substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical evaluation for treatment is not reasonable and necessary for the work-related injury.
  However, in Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment sought by an injured worker within two years of an injury is compensable, unless the employer can meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  The Court’s decision develops the presumption analysis, by making the employer’s burden of rebutting the compensability of a particular treatment much greater than a “preponderance of the evidence.”  Between two legitimate, yet contradictory opinions about the efficacy of treatment, the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician.  The employer must demonstrate the treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  

Conversely, when the Board “reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury it, it has discretion to authorize ‘indicated’ medical treatment ‘as the process of recovery may require.’ Given this discretion, the Board is not limited to reviewing the reasonableness and necessity of the particular treatment sought, but has some latitude to choose among reasonable alternatives.”
  We find our decision in this instance does not turn on whether the employee is seeking medical treatment beyond two years from the date of injury or not.  Under either analysis, we conclude the procedures sought are appropriate under AS 23.30.095(a).

We find that Dr. Fuller is an expert in orthopedic surgery.  We find that Dr. Fuller is not an expert in physiatry or anesthesiology.  We find, based upon Dr. Fuller’s testimony at hearing that IDET and nucleoplasty are procedures performed by a physiatrist, such as Dr. James, or an anesthesiologist.  We find Dr. James is an expert in the medical field of physiatry.  We find Dr. Fuller testified that he is conservative in his treatment recommendations. Therefore, on balance, we give greater weight to Dr. James’ opinions and testimony on the efficacy of IDET and nucleoplasty than Dr. Fuller.
   Therefore, on the record presented, we conclude the nature of the work related injury and the associated related process of recovery requires IDET and nucleoplasty.  Based on our review of the record, we find the claimant is entitled to medical benefits for his back condition, as recommended by his treating physicians pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a).
  

III. Attorney Fees And Legal Costs. 

AS 23.30.145(b) provides, in part:

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Based on our review of the record, we find the employee's attorney has successfully obtained a valuable medical benefit for the employee and his medical providers.  Under AS 23.30.260 the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with our approval.  In this case, we find the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee, was controverted and resisted by the actions of the employer.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee under subsection AS 23.30.145(b).  We have awarded the employee his claimed medical benefit.  Consequently, we can award fees under AS 23.30.145(b).
  

The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell
 held that our attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingent nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  We consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for the successful prosecution of a claim.
    

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, and the benefits resulting to the employee from the services obtained, we find that attorney fees claimed under AS 23.30.145(b) are reasonable for the successful prosecution of this claim.
  We conclude the employee is entitled to attorney’s fees under AS 23.30.145(b), based on the medical benefits awarded in this decision. 

The employee seeks an award of reasonable attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b). Upon reviewing the record, we find the employee timely provided an affidavit of attorney fees and costs totaling $19,015.45.
  At hearing the employee’s counsel requested an additional 9 hours at $275.00 per hour and an additional $172.55 in costs be added to the affidavit of fees and costs brining the total sought to $21,663.00.  The employer did not object to the hours expended or the rate per hour.

We have considered the nature, length and complexity, and benefits awarded in this case, as well as the contingent nature of workers' compensation cases. We find the employee’s itemized costs are reasonable.  We conclude that an award of attorney fees and costs in the total amount of $21,663.00 is appropriate in this case under AS 12.30.145 and 8 AAC 45.180.

ORDER
1. The employer’s request for an SIME is denied.

2. The employee is entitled to additional medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a) for his low back, including IDET and nucleoplasty.

3. The employee is awarded attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $21,663.00. 

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this     day of November, 2005.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
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